2002

Mervyn's California v. Utah Labor Commission and Marion E. App: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to hear and decide this appeal pursuant to section 78-2a-3(2)(a) and 34A-1-303(6) of the Utah Code.

ISSUE PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether the Appeals Board erred when it affirmed a default judgment against Mervyn's California ("Mervyn's"), when it is undisputed that Mervyn's intended to dispute the charges against it and never received notice of the evidentiary hearing at which it was found liable. No full evidentiary hearing on the merits was conducted with Mervyn's knowledge or participation, and thus without due process accorded it. Since the Utah Antidiscrimination and Labor Division's December 18, 2000 Order and Determination that Mervyn's California had not Discriminated against the Petitioner, Mervyn's California has not had an opportunity to meet the Petitioner's continuing discrimination claims with evidence and argument.

Mervyn's California's failure to receive timely and adequate notice and the opportunity to be heard violated its right to due process. Constitutional issues, including that of due process, are questions of law which are reviewed for correctness. *See In re K.M.*, 965 P.2d 576, 578 (Utah Ct. App. 1998). The Utah Labor Commission's decision to deny a new hearing is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *See Osman Home Improvement v. Industrial Commission*, 958 P.2d 240, 242-43 (Utah App.1998).

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS,
STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES, AND REGULATIONS**

Article I, section 7 of the Utah Constitution provides:

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property,
without due process of law.

Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides in pertinent part as follows:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect . . . or (6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

Mervyn's appeals from a default judgment entered against it. In September of 1998, Marion App filed a Charge of Discrimination with the Utah Antidiscrimination and Labor Division ("UALD") against Mervyn's. (R. 1) On December 18, 2000, UALD issued an Order and Determination in favor of Mervyn's, denying agency action for Ms. App. (R. 13-16) The UALD sent a copy of the Order and Determination to Mervyn's, addressed to Tracy Kunkle Coté, a former Mervyn's employee. (R. 16) It is undisputed that Mervyn's never received the UALD's Order and Determination. (R. 138, 176-77) Ms. App decided to Appeal the UALD's decision and the matter was transferred to the Adjudicative Division. (R. 17-18)

In February of 2001, the Adjudication Division sent a Notice of Conference to Mervyn's, again addressed to Ms. Coté informing Mervyn's of a pre-hearing conference to be held on May 24, 2001. (R. 19) In June of 2001, the Adjudication Division sent a Notice of Formal Hearing to Mervyn's, addressed again to Ms. Coté, informing Mervyn's of a formal evidentiary hearing to be held on July 3, 2001. (R. 20) Mervyn's did not receive the Notice of Conference or the Notice of Formal Hearing and, thus, did not attend either hearing. (R. 94-95, 138, 146-47, 176-77) Because Mervyn's failed to attend the hearing, Ms. App's testimony stood unrefuted and Judge Richard M. La Jeunesse entered a default judgment ("**Default Order**") against Mervyn's on July 18, 2001. (R. 42-50)

In August, 2001, after receiving the Default Order, Mervyn's filed a Motion for Review seeking to set aside the Default Order and requesting a new evidentiary hearing. (R. 51-59) In November, 2001, the Utah Labor Commission Appeals Board remanded Mervyn's request to set aside the Default Order and for a new hearing to Judge La Jeunesse for his review. (R. 62-64) In December, 2001, Judge La Jeunesse held that Mervyn's request to set aside the Default Order and for a new hearing did not meet the standard of Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. 93-99) In January, 2002, Mervyn's filed with the Utah Labor Commission Appeals Board a Motion for Review again seeking to set aside the Default Order and requesting a new evidentiary hearing. (R. 102-99) In June, 2002, the Utah Labor Commission Appeals Board denied

Mervyn's Motion for Review. (R. 205-08) In July, 2002, Mervyn's filed a petition for review with this court. (R. 210-11)

Statement Of Facts

On September 3, 1998, Marion App filed a Charge of Discrimination with the UALD against Mervyn's alleging that she had been discriminated against on the basis of a disability. (R. 1) Tracy Kunkle Côté, a Senior Team Relations Representative for Mervyn's, promptly filed an answer refuting Ms. App's claims. (R. 2-3) During the year of 1999, there was no communication between UALD and Mervyn's. (R. 137) In October of 1999, while the UALD was in the midst of their investigation, Ms. Côté resigned her employment from Mervyn's. (R. 94, 137, 152) Mervyn's received no further contact from UALD until December 5, 2000, at which time Joan Carter, an investigator with UALD, called and left a message with Mervyn's. (R. 137, 141) That phone message was forwarded by Ed Smith, who had taken Ms. Côté position, to Ms. Bonner, who had taken over management of the App matter. (R. 137, 141) Ms. Bonner returned Ms. Carter's call and engaged in a series of conversations and exchanged information with Ms. Carter on December 5-7, 2000. (R. 94, 137-38, 153-60).

After years of review, on December 18, 2000, UALD issued an Order and Determination in favor of Mervyn's denying agency action for Ms. App. (R. 13-16) The Order and Determination dismissed Ms. App's request for agency action, finding that there was "**NO REASONABLE CAUSE** to believe it was more likely than not that the

Charging Party was subjected to discriminatory practices alleged.” (R. 14) Although UALD had not had contact with Ms. Côté for over two years, and had spoken with Ms. Bonner that same month regarding the App case, UALD mailed the Order and Determination to Ms. Côté. (R. 16, 94, 138) Mervyn’s never received the UALD’s Order and Determination. (R. 138, 176-77)

On January 17, 2001, Ms. App filed a request for a formal evidentiary hearing. (R. 17) No evidence was ever presented that either Ms. App or UALD sent Mervyn’s a copy of this request. (R. 93-99) After Ms. App filed a request for a formal evidentiary hearing, UALD transferred Ms. App’s case to the Adjudication Division. (R. 18) On February 15, 2001, the Adjudication Division sent a Notice of Conference to Mervyn’s, again addressed to Ms. Côté, informing Mervyn’s of a pre-hearing conference to be held on May 24, 2001. (R. 19) Mervyn’s did not receive the Notice of Conference. (R. 138, 176-77) Although Mervyn’s had actively participated in all of the proceedings and responded in a timely fashion to all correspondences, Mervyn’s failed to attend the pre-hearing conference for the simple reason it did not receive the Notice of Conference. (R. 94, 138, 146-47) No one from the Adjudicative Division attempted to contact Mervyn’s to determine why they had failed to make an appearance or respond to the Notice of Conference. (R. 93-99, 137-38)

On June 5, 2001, the Adjudication Division sent a Notice of Formal Hearing to Mervyn’s, addressed again to Ms. Côté, informing Mervyn’s of a formal evidentiary

hearing to be held on July 3, 2001. (R. 20) Mervyn's did not receive the Notice of Formal Hearing and, thus, did not attend the formal evidentiary hearing because it did not know of it. (R. 95, 138, 146-47) No one from the Adjudicative Division attempted to contact Mervyn's to determine why they had failed to make an appearance or respond to the Notice of Formal Hearing. (R. 93-99, 137-38) In sworn and undisputed affidavit testimony, Bonnie Lachina, the administrative assistant who retrieved the mail for Ed Smith, Ms. Coté's replacement, testified that she never saw the Notice of Conference or Notice of Formal Hearing. (R. 176) In sworn affidavit testimony, Julie Radcliffe, the administrative assistant who retrieved mail for Ms. Bonner, who took over supervision of the App matter, testified that she never saw the Notice of Conference or Notice of Formal Hearing. (R. 177)

On July 18, 2001, Judge La Jeunesse entered a Default Order against Mervyn's finding that "Marion App provided the only testimony at the hearing on July 3, 2001. Therefore Ms. App's testimony stood as the unrefuted evidence in this matter." (R. 43) Judge La Jeunesse's Default Order ignored UALD's Order and Determination. (R. 42-50) The Default Order was again mailed to Ms. Coté at Mervyn's. This time, and for the first time, the Default Order was returned with the notation "RETURN TO SENDER NO LONGER AT THIS ADDRESS." (R. 95) On July 27, 2001, the Adjudicative Division removed Ms. Coté's name and the Default Order was remailed to Mervyn's and was ultimately received by Ms. Bonner. (R. 95)

On August 10, 2001, after receiving the Default Order, Mervyn's filed a Motion for Review seeking to set aside the Default Order and requesting a new evidentiary hearing. (R. 51-59) Mervyn's made known in its Motion for Review that it had received no contact regarding the App case since December 7, 2000 and reminded the Appeals Board that, if allowed the opportunity, it could bring forth facts and documents which support the UALD's favorable Determination and Order, and would rebut Ms. App's claims. (R. 51-52). On November 15, 2001, the Utah Labor Commission Appeals Board remanded Mervyn's request to set aside the Default Order and for a new hearing to Judge La Jeunesse for his review. (R. 62-64)

On December 28, 2001, Judge La Jeunesse held that Mervyn's request to set aside the Default Order and for a new hearing did not meet the standard of Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. 93-99) On January 28, 2002, Mervyn's filed with the Utah Labor Commission Appeals Board a Motion for Review again seeking to set aside the Default Order and requesting a hearing on the merits of the case. (R. 102-99) On June 28, 2002, the Utah Labor Commission Appeals Board denied Mervyn's Motion for Review. (R. 205-08) On July 25, 2002, Mervyn's filed a petition for review with this court. (R. 210-11)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mervyn's does not seek here a disposition of Ms. App's claims against it. It seeks only its legal right to defend itself. This court should set aside the Default Order entered

against Mervyn's and remand to permit a new hearing under the due process clause of the Utah Constitution. Mervyn's was not provided fair notice and the right to be heard on the merits of the claims brought against it. Due process here requires flexible procedural protections. In this case, Judge La Jeunesse and the Utah Labor Commission Appeals Board failed to provide Mervyn's the procedural protections to which it is entitled, and instead upheld the default judgment and refused to grant a new hearing based solely on the conclusion that the notice of the evidentiary hearing was properly addressed and mailed, and thus was "received." The Default Order was entered in violation of Mervyn's due process rights, and this court should set it aside to permit a new hearing.

Alternatively, this court should set aside the Default Order entered against Mervyn's and grant Mervyn's a new hearing under Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Mervyn's failure to attend the formal evidentiary hearing arose from "mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect," and because of a clerical error in the UALD that failed to change Mervyn's contact person from Ms. Côté to Ms. Bonner. Furthermore, Mervyn's has already demonstrated it is able to show it has more than a meritorious defense to Ms. App's underlying discrimination allegations. In providing similar relief, Utah courts have consistently held that default judgments are extreme sanctions and are thus disfavored. Because Mervyn's can meet the appropriate standard, Mervyn's should be given the opportunity to appear and be heard on the merits of its case.

ARGUMENT

I. Under The Due Process Clause Of The Utah Constitution The Default Judgment Against Mervyn's Should Be Set Aside And Mervyn's Request For A New Hearing Should Be Granted.

Article I, section 7 of the Utah Constitution provides that “[n]o person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.”¹ Utah Const. art. I, § 7. “At a minimum, ‘[t]imely and adequate notice and an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way are at the very heart of procedural fairness.’” *In re Worthen*, 926 P.2d 853, 876 (Utah 1996) (quoting *Nelson v. Jacobsen*, 669 P.2d 1207, 1211 (Utah 1983)). The Utah Supreme Court has recognized that “every person who brings a claim in a court or at a hearing held before an administrative agency has a due process right to receive a fair trial in front of a fair tribunal.” *Id.* (quoting *Bunnell v. Industrial Comm’n*, 740 P.2d 1331, 1333 (Utah 1987)).

The Utah Supreme Court has recognized that “[d]ue process is flexible and calls for the procedural protections that the given situation demands.” *In re Worthen*, 926 P.2d at 876 (Utah 1996) (internal quotations omitted) (quoting *Labrum v. Utah State Bd. of Pardons*, 870 P.2d 902, 911 (Utah 1993)); *see also V-1 Oil Co. v. Department of Environmental Quality*, 939 P.2d 1192 (Utah 1997) (“The requirements of due process depend upon the specific context in which they are applied because unlike some legal

¹ The Utah Supreme Court has recognized that Utah’s constitutional guarantee of due process is substantially the same as the due process guarantees contained in the Fifth and Fourteenth amendments to the United States Constitution. *See Untermeyer v. State Tax Commission*, 129 P.2d 881, 885 (1942).

rules due process is not a technical conception with a fixed content unrelated to time, place, and circumstances.” (internal quotation and citation omitted).

Judge La Jeunesse and the Utah Labor Commission Appeals Board failed to provide the procedure protections that this situation demanded, and to provide Mervyn’s fair notice and the right to be heard on the merits of the claims asserted against it. Instead, based solely on case law that a letter properly addressed and mailed is prima facie evidence that it was received, Judge La Jeunesse and the Utah Labor Commission Appeals Board ignored the actual evidence overcoming that prima facie presumption, and denied Mervyn’s request to set aside the Default Order and provide a new hearing. (R. 96-97) (citing *Brown v. The Fraternal Accident Assoc. of America*, 55 P. 63 (Utah 1898) and *Cooney v. McKinney*, 71 P. 485 (Utah 1903)).

First of all, properly addressed and mailed letters only create a rebuttable presumption that they were received. *See Brown*, 55 P. at 65. Mervyn’s has more than adequately rebutted this presumption with affidavit testimony by the office personnel who would have received any communications from the Adjunctive Division. (R. 138) Mervyn’s has substantiated this position by sworn affidavit testimony of Bonnie Lachina, the administrative assistant who retrieved the mail for Ed Smith, Ms. Côté’s replacement, and Julie Radcliffe, the administrative assistant who retrieved mail for Ms. Bonner, who

took over supervision of the App matter. Ms. Lachina and Ms. Radcliffe testified that they never saw the Notice of Conference or Notice of Formal Hearing.² (R. 176-77)

Another error of Judge La Jeunesse and the Utah Labor Commission Appeals Board is their application of evidentiary concepts to what is at heart a procedural issue involving due process. *Brown* and *Cooney* do not support the harsh remedy of a default judgment. *Brown* and *Cooney* each address evidentiary rules concerning the importance of receiving or not receiving a particular letter or correspondence. *See Brown*, 55 P. at 64-65 (issue is whether or not a letter can be used to show compliance with the terms of an insurance policy); *Cooney*, 71 P. 486 (defendant objected to the introduction of a letter into evidence because it was “incompetent, irrelevant, and immaterial,” but did not deny that he had received it from the plaintiffs).

The issue here is qualitatively and legally very different. Of concern is not whether the letter bearing upon the merits of the case was ever received. Here, the issue is whether Mervyn’s was ever properly notified that Ms. App had challenged the Order and Determination that Mervyn’s was innocent of any wrongdoing. A determination of whether Mervyn’s had notice of Ms. App’s challenge should instead be more akin to a

² As noted by Ms. App herself, “certified mail would have probably cleared up this whole thing” (R. 148) There simply is no conclusive proof that Mervyn’s received notice of the hearing to deny Mervyn’s its due process rights. Furthermore, a simple phone call to Mervyn’s at any time before the formal evidentiary hearing would have resolved this situation. While Mervyn’s does not contend that the Utah Labor Commission is required to attempt to track down defendants, in this case, where Mervyn’s did not attend the pre-hearing conference and failed for the first time to make an appearance or respond to a correspondence, a simple phone call could have avoided this entire appeal and was

determination under Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Procedure to inquire whether or not a defendant was served with process. *See Locke v. Peterson*, 285 P.2d 1111, 1111-13 (Utah 1955) (Proof of service is required to safeguard against default judgments.). Thus, all safeguards to ensure notice under Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure were neither met nor sought for here. This is and was a deprivation of due process.

Contrary to the implication of Judge La Jeunesse and the Utah Labor Commission Appeals Board's ruling, at least *Brown* stands for the proposition that all opportunities to present evidence should be exhausted, rather than for the proposition that simply placing something in the mail irrevocably satisfies notice and due process requirements. In fact, in *Brown* the court allowed evidence of the letter to be presented to the jury, among other reasons, because without evidence that the letter was received by the insurance company, plaintiffs would have been in forfeit and the Utah Supreme Court recognized that "forfeitures are not favorable under the law." 55 P. at 64. Thus, neither of these cases override Mervyn's due process right of notice and opportunity to present evidence and argument on a claim brought against it. *State v. Rawlings*, 893 P.2d 1063 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) (quoting *Plumb v. State*, 809 P.2d 734, 743 (Utah 1990) ("All parties are entitled to notice that a particular issue is being considered by a court and to an opportunity to present evidence and argument on that issue before decision"))).

Because the requirements of due process have not been met in this case, this court should set aside Judge La Jeunesse's Default Order and grant Mervyn's request for a new

certainly justified under the circumstances.

hearing on the merits.

II. Under Rule 60(b) Of The Utah Rules Of Civil Procedure The Default Judgment Against Mervyn's Should Be Set Aside And Mervyn's Request For A New Hearing Should Be Granted.

As recognized by Judge La Jeunesse, Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure allows relief for a party from a default judgment, order or decree if certain grounds are established. (R. 96) Some of those grounds are that the judgment was obtained by reason of “mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect,” or “any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment.” Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1) & (6). In addition, to prevail under Rule 60(b), a party must show that it has a meritorious defense in the case. *See, e.g., State v. Musselman*, 667 P.2d 1053, 1055-56 (Utah 1983). Mervyn's satisfied each of these elements.

This court should vacate the Default Order entered against Mervyn's, and Mervyn's should be granted a hearing because its failure to attend the formal evidentiary hearing is based on “mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect.” Furthermore, Mervyn's has more than a meritorious defense to Ms. App's underlying discrimination allegations. In providing relief under Rule 60(b), Utah courts have consistently held that default judgments are extreme sanctions that should be meted out with caution and that the courts, in the interest of justice and fair play, should strive to permit a full and complete opportunity for a hearing on the merits of every case. *See Wright v. Wright*, 941 P.2d 646, 649 (Utah 1997). The tribunals below ignored or rejected this tenet.

A. Mervyns' Failure to Attend the Formal Evidentiary Hearing was Based on Mistake, Inadvertence, Surprise or Excusable Neglect.

Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b) provides that “on motion and upon such terms as are just, the Court may, in the furtherance of justice, relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect . . . or (6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of justice.” Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b). The Utah Supreme Court has noted that “[t]he court should be generally indulgent toward setting a judgment aside where there is reasonable justification or excuse.” *Katz v. Pierce*, 732 P.2d 92, 93 (Utah 1986) (emphasis added). Mervyn’s can provide more than a reasonable excuse for its failure to attend the formal evidentiary hearing that resulted in Judge La Jeunesse’s Default Order. It never knew of it.

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