2002

# Mervyn's California, Petitioner/Appellant vs. Utah Labor Commission and Marion E. App, Respondents/Appellee : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As authorized by §34A-5-107 of the Utah Antidiscrimination Act, Mrs. App properly invoked Labor Commission jurisdiction to adjudicate her employment discrimination claim against Mervyn's. At the formal evidentiary hearing on Mrs. App's complaint, Mrs. App participated, but Mervyn's failed to appear. The ALJ entered judgment in favor of Mrs. App. Mervyn's then asked for a new hearing pursuant to Rule 60(b)(1), U.R.C.P., on the grounds that it had not received notice of the first hearing.

In considering Mervyn's request for a new hearing, both the ALJ and the Appeals Board have determined that the Commission properly notified Mervyn's, consistent with Mervyn's own instructions, of the adjudicative proceedings on Mrs. App's complaint. The ALJ and Appeals Board also determined that Mervyn's actually received the notices in question. Because Mervyn's has failed to set forth any factually correct reason for its failure to participate in the first evidentiary hearing, the ALJ and Appeals Board denied Mervyn's request for a new hearing.

Although Mervyn's disagrees with the Appeals Board's findings of fact, Mervyn's has failed to discharge its duty to marshal the evidence relevant to those findings. For

that reason alone, the Appeals Board's findings should be deemed conclusive. Alternatively, the Appeals Board's findings of fact should be affirmed because they are supported by substantial evidence in the record.

Mervyn's also contends it was denied due process in proceedings before the Commission because it did not receive notice of those proceedings. Because this due process argument was not made to the ALJ or Appeals Board, it cannot be raised now, for the first time on appeal. But in any event, Mervyn's due process argument is based on the factual assertion that Mervyn's did not receive the notices in question. As already discussed, the Appeals Board has determined that Mervyn's did receive the notices. Consequently, Mervyn's due process argument lacks factual support and should be dismissed.

Finally, Mervyn's argues that the ALJ and Appeals Board abused their discretion in denying Mervyn's request for new hearing under Rule 60(b)(1), U.R.C.P. Once again, Mervyn's bases its argument on the incorrect factual assertion that it did not receive notices of the adjudicative proceedings on Mrs. App's complaint. As already noted, the ALJ and Appeals Board concluded that Mervyn's did receive the notices. Mervyn's has not presented any other reason which would support a new hearing under Rule 60(b)(1).

In light of the foregoing, the Commission respectfully submits that the ALJ and Appeals Board's decisions denying Mervyn's request for a new hearing were not an abuse of discretion and should be affirmed.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT ONE

#### **THE APPEALS BOARD'S FINDINGS OF FACT HAVE NOT BEEN PROPERLY CHALLENGED AND, IN ANY EVENT, ARE SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.**

##### **A. Mervyn's Has Failed To Marshal The Evidence.**

Mervyn's argument for relief under 60(b)(1) is based entirely on its assertion that it did not receive notice of the prehearing conference and evidentiary hearing held on Ms. App's complaint. Judge LaJeunesse and the Appeals Board have carefully considered this question of fact and have concluded that Mervyn's did receive the notices.

Whether Mervyn's did, or did not, receive the notice of conference and notice of hearing is a question of fact. On review, this Court applies a "substantial evidence" standard to such factual issues, Drake v. Industrial Commission, 939 P.2d 177 (Utah 1997). Furthermore, the party challenging the Commission's findings of fact "must marshal all of the evidence supporting the findings and show that despite the supporting facts, and in light of the conflicting or contradictory evidence, the findings are not supported by substantial evidence." Grace Drilling Co. v. Board of Review, 776 P.2d 63, 67 (Utah App. 1989.) If a party fails to discharge its burden of marshaling the evidence, this Court accepts the Commission's findings as conclusive. Merriam v. Board of Review, 812 P.2d 447, 459 (Utah App. 1991).

In this case, Mervyn's disputes the findings of the Judge and Appeals Board, not by confronting the evidence supporting those finding, but merely by substituting its own version of fact. For example, at page one of its brief, Mervyn's asserts ". . . it is undisputed that Mervyn's . . . never received notice . . . ." Likewise, at page 3 of Mervyn's brief, in its "statement of facts," Mervyn's represents that it ". . . did not receive the Notice of Conference or the Notice of Formal Hearing . . . ." Similar statements are found throughout Mervyn's brief. However, Judge LaJeunesse and the Appeals Board determined that exactly the opposite was true: Mervyn's did receive the notices.

By ignoring the Judge and Appeals Board's findings of fact and turning a blind eye to all evidence contrary to its own position, Mervyn's has failed to discharge its burden of marshaling the evidence. Consequently, the Appeals Board's findings should be considered conclusive.

**B. The Appeals Board's Findings Are Supported By Substantial Evidence.**

As discussed above, the Commission believes the Appeals Board's findings that Mervyn's received the notices in question should be deemed conclusive in light of Mervyn's failure to properly marshal the evidence. Furthermore, the evidentiary record includes substantial evidence supporting the Appeals Board's findings.

Mervyn's itself provided the Commission with the address to be used for communication with Mervyn's. In a letter dated October 26, 1998, Ms. Cote, as

Mervyn's "Senior Team Relations Representative" submitted Mervyn's response to Mrs. App's complaint and advised UALD to contact her (Ms. Cote) if further information was required. (R. 2) Furthermore, the address Ms. Cote provided to the Commission was the same address Mervyn's listed as its official address of record with the Utah Department of Commerce. (R. 146)

The notice of conference and notice of hearing in Mrs. App's case were properly addressed and mailed to Mervyn's in accordance with Mervyn's instructions. (R. 143) As noted in Judge LaJeunesse's decision, when mail is properly addressed and deposited with the postal service, a presumption exists that the mail reaches its destination. Brown v. Fraternal Accident Assoc. of America, 55 P.2d 63 (Utah 1998). Although Mervyn's attempts to rebut this presumption of delivery, Mervyn's does not dispute the existence of the presumption itself. (See Mervyn's brief at page 10.)

Mervyn's effort to rebut the presumption that it received the notice of conference and notice of hearing rests primarily on the affidavits submitted by Ms. Lachina (R. 176) and Ms. Radcliffe. (R. 177) These affidavits, which are essentially identical, are of limited value. While Ms. Lachina and Ms. Radcliffe undoubtedly are familiar with their own practice and pattern in handling the mail for their respective departments at Mervyn's, no foundation exists to accept their representations regarding the practice and procedure of Mervyn's central mail room. The following evidence indicates that

Mervyn's central mail room does not process mail in the manner described by Ms. Lachina and Ms. Radcliffe.

Ms. Lachina and Ms. Radcliffe state that Mervyn's mail room employees place any mail addressed to their departments, or to an individual in their departments, in their departments' respective mail slots. (R. 176, 177) Ms. Radcliffe additionally states that mail of a "legal nature," as determined by the "return addressor's information" is placed in the Legal department's mail slot. When Judge LaJeunesse issued his initial decision, Mervyn's copy was mailed to Ms. Cote, as Mervyn's representative of record, at Mervyn's headquarters address. Despite the fact that Ms. Cote had been in the Employee Relations department, Mervyn's mail room did not route Judge LaJeunesse's decision to Ms. Lachina. Likewise, despite the fact that the decision was quite clearly "of a legal nature", Mervyn's mail room did not route the decision to Ms. Radcliffe. Instead, the mail room chose to return the envelope containing the decision to the U.S. Postal Service, marked with the notation "Return to Sender No Longer At This Address." (R. 86) This action on the part of Mervyn's mail room is inconsistent with the purported process described in the Lachina and Radcliffe affidavits and undermines the persuasive effect of those affidavits.

In summary, it was proper for Judge LaJeunesse and the Appeals Board to begin with the presumption that Mervyn's received the notice of conference and notice of hearing. Although Mervyn's attempted to rebut that presumption and establish that the

notices were not received, the evidence presented by Mervyn's was internally inadequate and objectively inconsistent with Mervyn's actual practices. Finally, Judge LaJeunesse and the Appeals Board were aware of instances in which mailings to Mervyn's, addressed in the same manner as the notices, had been received by Mervyn's. All of these considerations, taken together, constitute substantial evidence that Mervyn's received the notice of conference and notice of hearing.

## **POINT TWO:**

**MERVYN'S HAS FAILED TO PRESERVE ITS DUE PROCESS ARGUMENTS, BUT EVEN IF THOSE ARGUMENTS ARE CONSIDERED ON THEIR MERITS, MERVYN'S RECEIVED APPROPRIATE NOTICE AND WAS NOT DEPRIVED OF DUE PROCESS.**

### **A. Mervyn's Failed To Preserve Its Due Process Arguments.**

Section 63-46b-14(2) of the Utah Administrative Procedures Act provides: "A party may seek judicial review only after exhausting all administrative remedies available . . . ." <sup>2</sup> Consistent with the Administrative Procedures Act's limitation on judicial review, Rule 24(a)(5) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure requires an appellant's brief to include a "(c)itation to the record showing that the issue was preserved in the trial court . . . ."

---

<sup>2</sup>

Section 63-46b-14(2) also lists certain exceptions to this requirement of exhaustion of administrative remedies. Specifically, exhaustion is not required: 1) if waived by some other statute; 2) administrative remedies are inadequate; or 3) exhaustion would result in irreparable harm. None of the exceptions apply here.

Despite the requirement of Rule 24(a)(5), Mervyn's brief contains no citation to the record demonstrating that the issue of due process was raised in proceedings before the Commission. Consequently, the Commission has itself reviewed the record to determine whether due process was raised before the Commission so as to preserve the issue for appellate review.

Clearly, Mervyn's did not raise the issue of due process in the course of proceedings conducted by Judge LaJeunesse on Mervyn's request for relief from judgment. (R. 136-148) Later, Mervyn's motion for Appeals Board review of Judge LaJeunesse's decision contains nothing more than a passing reference to due process, but no significant argument, authority, or reference to Article I, section 7, of the Utah Constitution, the source of Utah's due process clause. (R. 112)

In light of the foregoing, the Commission contends that Mervyn's did not exhaust its administrative remedies with respect to its due process arguments. Because Mervyn's did not exhaust its administrative remedies on the issue, Mervyn's arguments regarding alleged denial of due process are precluded from appellate review. Brown & Root Industrial Services v. Industrial Commission, 947 P.2d 671, 677 (Utah 1997).

Although the Commission does not believe Mervyn's has preserved its due process arguments for appellate review, the Commission will proceed to discuss the merits of those arguments.

## **B. Mervyn's Received Proper Notice Of These Proceedings.**

The Commission acknowledges that Mervyn's, and all other parties to adjudicative proceedings at the Commission, are entitled to due process. This protection is embedded in both the federal and Utah Constitutions. The Commission also acknowledges that procedural fairness is an essential component of due process. Requirements designed to provide procedural fairness are included in the Utah Administrative Procedures Act and the Utah Antidiscrimination Act. Furthermore, it is well established that "(a)t a minimum, 'timely and adequate notice and an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way are at the very heart of procedural fairness.' (citations omitted)." In re Worthen, 926 P.2d 853, 876 (Utah 1996). The question now before this Court is whether Mervyn's did, in fact, receive the "timely and adequate notice and an opportunity to be heard" that is required by due process.

It is undisputed that Mervyn's received full notice of Mrs. App's discrimination complaint and responded to that complaint (R. 2-3), thereby subjecting Mervyn's to the Commission's jurisdiction under §34A-2-107 of the Utah Antidiscrimination Act. It cannot be denied that Mervyn's had actual notice of the complaint against it

The fact has previously been established that, after Mrs. App's complaint was transferred to the Commission's Adjudication Division, Mervyn's was given proper notice of the additional adjudicative proceedings that were to be conducted. Although Mervyn's has denied receiving these notices of conference and of hearing, both Judge

LaJeunesse and the Appeals Board have determined that they were, in fact, received by Mervyn's. Thus, Mervyn's had full knowledge of the nature of the claims Mrs. App had raised against it, as well as proper notification of the time, date, place and purpose of the adjudicative proceedings that were to be held on Mrs. App's complaints.

Due process does not require perfect process, nor does due process require a given set of rigid procedures. As the Utah Supreme Court observed in In re Worthen, id. "We have delineated these requirements (of due process) in a variety of contexts, for 'due process is flexible and calls for the procedural protections that the given situation demands.'" (Citations omitted.) Here, Mervyn's had full notice of the claims against it, notice of the adjudicative proceedings to resolve those claims, and an opportunity to participate in those proceedings. The Commission respectfully submits that these factors satisfied the requirements of due process.

### **POINT THREE**

#### **MERVYN'S HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH A SUFFICIENT BASIS TO JUSTIFY RELIEF FROM JUDGMENT UNDER RULE 60(B)(1).**

Mervyn's failed to attend the prehearing conference or the formal evidentiary hearing in this matter. Mrs. App participated in both. Judgment was entered in her favor based on her persuasive testimony establishing that Mervyn's had discriminated against her because of disability, in violation of the Utah Antidiscrimination Act. Later, Mervyn's asked that the judgment against it be set aside and a new hearing held pursuant

to Rule 60(b)(1), U.R.C.P., because Mervyn's allegedly had not received notice of the prehearing conference and the evidentiary hearing that were held on Mrs. App's complaint.

The Commission recognizes that default judgments are generally disfavored. As the Utah Supreme Court stated in Katz v. Pierce, 732 P.2d 92, 93 (Utah 1986):

The court should be generally indulgent toward setting a judgment aside where there is reasonable justification or excuse for the defendant's failure to answer and when timely application is made. Where there is doubt about whether a default should be set aside, that doubt should be resolved in favor of doing so.

However, in Katz, the Supreme Court went on to say:

But, before we will interfere with the trial court's exercise of discretion, abuse of that discretion must be clearly shown. That some basis may exist to set aside the default does not require the conclusion that the court abused its discretion in refusing to do so when facts and circumstances support the refusal.

In this case, Mervyn's request for relief from judgment was not summarily rejected. Instead, the ALJ held an evidentiary hearing to establish the circumstances of Mervyn's failure to participate in earlier proceedings. (R. 62-63) Thus, Mervyn's was given every reasonable opportunity to explain its default.

At the hearing, Mervyn's put forth the excuse that it had never received the notices in question. However, as discussed in Point I of this brief, both Judge LaJeunesse and the Appeals Board rejected that excuse and determined, as a matter of fact, that Mervyn's

did receive the notices in question. Thus, the decisions by Judge LaJeunesse and the Appeals Board removed the underpinnings of Mervyn's argument for a new hearing.